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PREFACE


———


For a very long time I have known the unattractiveness of homicide, yet I accept the interest the public maintains in the taking of human life, be it the varying degrees of homicide or, in Australia’s case, the long-abandoned executions once sanctioned by the state.


It is clear from public discourse, in media and the visual arts, that people are aroused, curious and titillated by homicide and the circumstances that surround it. Not a little schadenfreude also plays its part. All provide fertile ground for exposé and reimagining in film and the written word. For the latter I am thankful. As a researcher of some of these cases, many more than a century old, where the public record is closed or lost, contemporaneous newspaper reports provide an invaluable resource to be used warily. ‘News is only the first rough draft of history’,1 Barth once mused as a warning to the unwary. Like anyone, journalists were biased and in times of poor communication filled in gaps to meet pressing deadlines, their rough draft presenting mostly an entry point to find and corroborate elusive facts.


With that in mind I hope I have gathered the tools to shine the best possible light on the lives of Australian police officers who have fallen in the line of duty. I have not sought to aggrandise their deeds, but give a truthful account of their lives and the actions leading to their deaths in the hope their passing will be better remembered and exemplify their valour and, in some cases, warn of their mistakes. When viewed through the contemporary prism, their valour is still astounding and their mistakes are diminished when measured against the raw standards of their time.


Their stories begin with Federation celebrations in Sydney’s Centennial Park. It is fitting they should range across every state of the new nation, only to return to a tragedy in the same place 20 years later.


In the telling, I have hoped to clear misconceptions and neglect. These were men mostly drawn from working class society to undertake difficult and often dangerous tasks. In that they were of us; family men in most instances, with lives outside duty to their public as much as it can be achieved. Their death impacted many in whose memory, for a time, they lived on. Now is the time to factually enshrine their memory for all time and marvel at what they achieved, with so little, until death saw their duty’s end.


Intertwined with these accounts are the tragedies, the needless loss of the innocent; children, mothers, people at their leisure or labour who became victims of incomprehensible violence. Their loss is in no way diminished by my focus on the deaths of those sworn to protect them.


Alan Leek
Camden Head
2023




CHAPTER ONE

———

THE BREELONG MASSACRE


NEW SOUTH WALES, 1900


As Australia lurched toward nationhood its people were focused, no longer on the question of a federation of colonies, as there had been a decisive vote in favour of it, but more so on arrangements for a celebration of the proclamation of the Commonwealth of Australia Constitution Bill on 1 January 1901, to be followed by a week of festivities across the country. During 1900, preparations were made for the swearing-in of the Governor-General, Lord Hopetoun, who would in turn, swear in the first ministry. Queen Victoria issued a proclamation on 17 September which would be read by Hopetoun before a crowd expected to approach 100,000 in Centennial Park, Sydney. A contingent of 200 police would maintain order.


Overshadowing the planned event was the war in South Africa, the Second Boer War, which had begun on 11 October 1899. Each of the six colonies sent various contingents, but sabre rattling and jingoism had given way to sobering news of mounting casualties. On another front, contingents, mostly from Victoria and New South Wales, had joined an international force in August 1900 to suppress the Boxer Rebellion in China, filling shortages due to the African campaign.


At home on 20 July 1900, news spread of a terrible massacre near Breelong, about 13 kilometres from Gilgandra in New South Wales. Jimmy Governor and Jackey Underwood had used bondis, nulla-nullas and a tomahawk to bludgeon and hack to death Helen Josephine Kerz, a 21-year-old student teacher at the Breelong School who boarded with John Mawbey and his family. They also killed Percy Mawbey, 14, and his sister Hilda, who was just 11 years old. Their sister Grace, 16, died of her injuries two days later and their mother, Sarah Mawbey, soon after. Sarah Mawbey’s sister, 19-year-old Elsie Clarke, suffered severe head wounds, which she survived, though rendered deaf. John Mawbey senior and his son Reginald were at an old dwelling on the property near where they had spent the day working. The eldest Mawbey son, John (Jack), was in Sydney, where he had gone to join the Bushman’s Contingent to serve in South Africa. The killers had ensured their murderous spree would not be interrupted.
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Jackey Underwood.


A massive manhunt was roused as the killers, now joined by the Governors’ younger brother, Joe, ranged across large parts of New South Wales familiar to them. Forty-year-old Underwood, lame and blind in one eye, was unable to keep pace with them and was captured two days later.


Bent on vengeance for real or perceived slights, the Governors remained on the run for three months as a fearful and concerned community soaked up every scrap of news of their flight and subsequent crimes. A week after the Breelong killings, they hacked 70-year-old Alexander McKay to death as he worked in his garden at Sportsman’s Hollow, near Ulan. His wife, though beaten and cut, survived. They stole the McKays’ horses and other property, callously asking Mrs McKay for the old man’s saddle ‘… as he won’t need it anymore’.


A special correspondent reporting from Merriwa for the Sydney Morning Herald2observed, ‘Naturally, the recent atrocities completely monopolise public interest, which is manifested in an intense desire to effect the capture of the suspected murderers.’


The whole of Australia seemed transfixed by the atrocities and the pursuit of the remaining two brutal and ruthless killers.


On 24 July 1900, the day after the murder of Alexander McKay, the brothers went to Poggy station, near Merriwa, the home of heavily pregnant Elizabeth O’Brien who, because of her impending confinement, was attended by Nurse Bennett. While her husband worked the fields, Mrs O’Brien nursed her 15-month-old son, James, as the women sat by the kitchen fire. The Governors entered the house and shot Mrs Bennett, who fell and feigned death. They hacked Mrs O’Brien to death and crushed James’ head with the stock of a rifle, killing him instantly. As the killers entered the house proper in search of food and arms, Mrs Bennett escaped through a window and though severely wounded attracted the attention of Michael O’Brien, who was returning to his home. She told him that his wife and child had been killed and begged him not to go to the house as the Governors were still there. He instead ran for help from a neighbour, returning with him to find the killers gone and his wife’s body slumped in a corner with their son dead by her side.


Two days later the Governors were at Wollar, about 58 kilometres south-west of Merriwa, where they shot and bludgeoned 70-year-old Kieran Fitzpatrick to death and stole more provisions. His body was discovered by his nephew, Bernard Fitzpatrick, who had advised his uncle to leave home due to the risk of the Governors coming his way. The senior Fitzpatrick had refused to leave.


On 2 October, Judge Stephens in the Supreme Court of New South Wales summoned the fugitives to surrender themselves to the governor of Maitland Gaol on or before noon of Tuesday 16 October to be tried for the murder of Helen Josephine Kerz. Failing to surrender would result in their being declared outlaws under the provisions of the Felons Apprehension Act. Both men failed to surrender themselves and were declared outlaws and liable to arrest by any means available and to be taken dead or alive. This declaration played to their romantic notion of being bushrangers.


Their depredations continued and the fugitives became more desperate as their options diminished. They moved on to unfamiliar country near the mid-north coast in the Manning and Hastings river regions. Constable Richard Harris, though attached to the Ashfield police station in Sydney, volunteered to join the pursuit. He met tracker Jimmy Landsborough, recently attached to Moonbi, north of Tamworth, and they kept watch from a slab dwelling at Yarras by the Hastings river. After several hours, the Governors crept up to the hut and Jimmy poked his rifle through the slabs and shot Harris in the hip. Harris returned fire to no effect and Jimmy Landsborough gave chase, firing at the departing men. Harris’ wound was less serious than it might have been as the bullet had passed through the fleshy part of his hip.


Time ran out for Jimmy Governor when a group of settlers north-west of Taree discovered his camp. The police were not notified and the settlers watched the camp till near dawn when Governor was ordered to surrender, but ran off and was shot. Fatigued and wounded he lost consciousness and was apprehended. Ten days had passed since his surrender deadline. It could fairly be surmised that the police were not alerted because by that time Jimmy and Joe had a reward of £1000 each placed on their heads. The catch and bounty belonged to the settlers.


Two days later Joe Governor was shot and killed, allegedly while asleep, and his body taken to Singleton where his head was removed and sent to Sydney for medical curiosity. His remains were buried in the town in unconsecrated ground outside the cemetery fence.


The chase was over, but not the finale. Jimmy Governor, with his brother Joe, had committed heinous crimes of the first order, savagely striking down women, children and old men. They were, and are, the targets of cowards who avoided confrontations with able-bodied men who were likely to have seen them off in a trice. They also pillaged the settlers across a wide area of the state, putting them in fear for their lives. They plundered to support their hateful spree and Jimmy, finding an innocent 15-year-old settler’s daughter near Cobark Creek, not far from Gloucester, raped her to not only satisfy his lust but to wield the power he really didn’t possess.


The public remained apprehensive until Jimmy Governor was taken to Sydney by steamer and lodged at Darlinghurst Gaol. He stood trial on 19 November for the murder of Helen Kerz. The trial took two days, ending with the jury finding him guilty. He was sentenced to death.


Jackey Underwood had been arrested at Leadville, 70 kilometres from Mudgee, days after the Breelong killings, and eventually stood trial for the murder of Percy Mawbey at Dubbo on 4 October 1900. He, too, was sentenced to death.


The fear and drama were almost over and focus was again on the proclamation that would forge a nation.


[image: image]


Jimmy Governor at Darlinghurst Gaol two months before his execution.




CHAPTER TWO

———

PLAINCLOTHES CONSTABLE EDWARD GEORGE WARD


DARLINGHURST, NEW SOUTH WALES, 1900


Scottish-born James Bremner, a large man described generously as stout despite his 114 kilogram (18 stone) presence, held the rank of inspector and was the officer in charge of Darlinghurst police division, a position he had held since 1891. He became a constable in May 1862, soon after his arrival from his native Castletown, Caithness, in the northern Scottish Highlands. With almost 38 years service and approaching his sixtieth year, retirement was on his mind, but he first had other things to consider; the upcoming Proclamation Day not least of them.


He was distracted from these considerations by the wounding of one of his men in Oxford Street on the evening of 22 October 1900. It recalled the murder of Constable David Sutherland, at Potts Point in 1889, in similar circumstances.


Plainclothes Constable Edward Ward had worked earlier that day and finished his shift at 6 pm. Two hours later he was walking alone in Oxford Street when he saw a group of young men, among whom was George Harris, who he had been seeking for stealing purses from women. The youths scattered on his approach, but he detained Harris with the intention of walking him to Darlinghurst police station. Harris didn’t struggle, but occasionally looked furtively over his shoulder. As they neared Palmer Street, a young man was seen to approach from the opposite side of Oxford Street and fire a revolver at Ward’s head. Ward felt a stinging sensation and saw a man run off.


Harris began to struggle and Ward restrained him as they fell to the ground. Ward bled profusely from a head wound and covered himself and Harris with blood, but would not let him go. A large crowd gathered yet no-one came to the casually dressed constable’s assistance until Isaac Scholes, publican of the Rushcutter’s Bay Hotel, who knew him, went to his aid and held the prisoner with him. Other police were soon on the scene and took charge of Harris. Scholes placed Ward into a cab and he and a constable took him to St Vincent’s Hospital.


An examination showed that a bullet had entered Ward’s head just above his left ear and travelled about 4 centimetres. He was thought to have suffered a fractured skull as a consequence. A search for the spent bullet that night by lamplight and in the early morning failed to find it, the searchers being unaware that it had lodged in Ward’s skull. Ward was considered by doctors to have been extremely fortunate that the bullet, which had been fired at close to point-blank range, had deviated and not killed him.


Harris, who was also known as George Lovedale, was charged with vagrancy until further charges could be preferred. Five revolver cartridges were found in his coat pocket, although he denied owning a firearm.


Constable Ward had returned to duty at Darlinghurst less than two months earlier after having volunteered for service in South Africa with the 1st New South Wales Mounted Rifles. He left Australia in January 1900, saw action and received the Queen’s Medal and two campaign clasps before being struck down with enteric (typhoid) fever. He was evacuated to Australia and when recovered re-entered the police force. By year’s end, as was the case in other state police forces, at least 52 New South Wales police officers would leave the force and head for South Africa. Some did not return from the campaign.


Ward was another Irishman drawn to policing in Australia. He was born into a large family at Kidlawn, Moore, County Roscommon, on 18 July 1874. Soon after arriving in Australia he joined the New South Wales police as a mounted constable in January 1895, completing five years service before his South African sojourn.


[image: image]


Detective Constable Edward George Ward.


Investigations were well underway as Ward continued to recover from his wound and on 31 October, Robert Shaw, a 19-year-old labourer, was arrested and charged with shooting with intent to murder him. He appeared at the Water Police Court at Circular Quay on 7 November, where he pleaded not guilty to the purse stealing that led to his original arrest. He also pleaded not guilty to wounding Constable Ward. The object of his attempted liberation, George Harris, also appeared, charged with stealing the purse from Mrs Ellison Crockford. Unlike Shaw, he pleaded guilty. Both men were sentenced to six months hard labour.


Immediately after, Shaw’s charge of shooting with intent to murder was heard. The court was told that when arrested on 31 October, Shaw denied involvement in the incident and claimed he was at Drummoyne all day when Ward was wounded.


Constable Ward attended to give evidence, having been given leave from hospital where his treatment was continuing. He recalled the arrest of Harris and identified him as one of the three men he had approached. He was less definite about Shaw being the man running away after he was shot, but was almost certain it was him.


Another witness, a boy named Harbridge, was walking behind Ward and his prisoner with another boy named Judge. He saw two men, one of whom broke away from his companion and crossed Oxford Street, stepped between them and produced a revolver, which he fired. He then ran into Palmer Street and disappeared down a lane. Harbridge would not swear that the man was Shaw.


The case continued the following day and a witness, unwilling though she was, gave damning evidence against the defendant and his cohort. Sarah Carley asked the magistrate if it was necessary that she give evidence. Magistrate Wilshire replied, ‘But you must; it does not matter whether you care for it or not. It is in the interests of justice.’


Mrs Carley deposed that she lived with her husband at the Liverpool Arms Hotel, Reservoir and Mary Streets, Surry Hills, which her husband managed. She knew the defendant and recognised a photograph of him shown to her. He and Harris were always together as far as she knew. She had last seen them inside the parlour of the hotel and spoke with them on the Sunday before the constable was shot. Prosecutor Sergeant McLean asked, ‘Did you see anything in their possession?’


‘I decline to say,’ the witness replied before the magistrate ordered her to answer. She continued, ‘Harris had one revolver and the accused had another. One was smaller than the other. Harris had the bigger of the two. They were talking about shooting constables. Harris said, “If I get caught you blow him out and if you get caught, I’ll do the same.” It revealed the reason Harris kept looking over his shoulder when arrested by Ward.


The magistrate asked, ‘Did they say where they got the revolvers?’ Mrs Carley answered, ‘No, but they all have revolvers round that way, not only these two boys. They fire at tin pots and other things.’ She added that she thought it was all talk between Harris and Shaw. She had always thought Shaw was a little bit silly. He talked silly in the bar and she called him Mad Shaw. She stated she had seen Shaw on the night that Constable Ward was shot. He told her that Harris had been taken and he had ‘shot the copper’.


Magistrate Wilshire asked, ‘Tell us exactly what he said.’ Mrs Carley replied, ‘I seem to be the only one dragged into this case.’ Turning to Detective Roche she said, ‘Why don’t you get the others?’ Sergeant McLean continued, ‘Tell us the exact words you said to him.’ Mrs Carley replied, ‘I said, “Hallo.” He said, “Harris is gone off.” I said, “Where is he gone to?” He said, “The copper took him and I shot the copper.” I didn’t believe him.’


Appearing again to be reluctant to answer more questions, she was asked by Mr Wilshire the reason for her hesitancy. She replied, ‘I don’t care for it.’ Mr Wilshire, ‘You don’t care for telling the truth?’ ‘I don’t care for speaking at all’, she replied. Wilshire, ‘Why? You must have some reason for it.’ ‘I have no reason’, she replied. Wilshire persisted, ‘You must have some reason. There is no objection to telling the truth in a court of justice in a matter where a man’s life was concerned.’ Mrs Carley replied, ‘Well, they never did me any harm, and I rather like the two boys.’ Wilshire retorted, ‘But this is a case in which a man has been shot. You don’t mind a constable being shot, do you? Well, I suppose you have told us all the truth about this matter.’ ‘Yes, Your Worship’, she replied, and continued, ‘On the night that Ward was shot, Shaw came to the hotel and was talking about the shooting.’ Mrs Carley’s evidence was damning, not only for its directness but her reluctance and asides, which tended to support the truth of her words. Shaw was committed for trial at the Central Criminal Court.


The trial began on 4 December 1900, when the same witnesses were asked to give their evidence. Thomas Harbridge and William Judge told of seeing the shooting, and other evidence was restated. Mrs Carley admitted she was a reluctant witness. She gave the same account of her earlier evidence, adding that a number of boys were at the hotel in the days before the shooting of Constable Ward and all of them had revolvers. The day before the shooting, the accused and other boys were at the hotel and were talking about going after the black outlaws. She said to them, ‘What is the use of you going after the Governors? You will never be able to catch them; you’ll get caught yourselves.’ It was an observation not far off the mark.


After a short deliberation the jury found Shaw guilty of maliciously wounding Constable Ward with intent to inflict grievous bodily harm. He had nothing to say before sentence was passed. Mr Justice Owens addressed him, ‘Prisoner, you have been found guilty of a most dastardly and cowardly assault upon a police officer in the discharge of his duty. These offences against the police, while engaged in the execution of their duties, are unfortunately too frequent. On this evening, the 22nd of October last, you appear to have been in the streets with a loaded revolver in your pocket, in company with some others, one of whom was a man of bad character. Ward arrested that man, and you followed him along Oxford Street, where you went up to within a few feet of Ward, and discharged the revolver at his head. It was only by the mercy of Providence that you did not kill him. Fortunately, you did not, as the bullet glanced off the bone of the skull. The sentence is seven years penal servitude.’


Shaw and Harris would be together again – inseparable as Mrs Carley had indicated. Harris, not content with his six-month sentence, within months of his release, was charged with assault and robbery and sentenced to three years hard labour. At first, his behaviour was bad in prison, but later improved, leading to his release after two years and seven months. One year later he was sentenced to 10 years for robbery with violence. While serving that sentence he stabbed and wounded James Quaine, the deputy governor of Parramatta Gaol.


He was sentenced to death, the penalty later commuted by the Executive Council to penal servitude for life. In 1916, after the intervention of Attorney-General David Hall during the dying days of the New South Wales Labor Government, which was fracturing over the conscription debate, Harris was released and fulfilled his spontaneous promise to enlist for war service. His service was exemplary, and during an attack on German lines on 8 August 1918, as part of a machine gun battalion, he was carrying ammunition to the gunners when he was one of 2000 Australian men killed in the action known as the Battle of Amiens. The Germans knew it as ‘the black day of the German army’.


Private George Harris is buried in the military cemetery at Cerisy-Gailly, which is cradled by a loop in the meandering River Somme.
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The trial judge had identified Shaw’s action in stalking a man from behind and shooting him in the head as dastardly and cowardly and no-one could argue with that. Shaw was born in Sydney on 20 July 1882, but neglect and behavioural problems soon saw him onboard the Sobraon training ship, which had not long before replaced the Vernon at Cockatoo Island as a reformatory. Once released, his stealing and violent acts were given free vent. It seems it truly was a training ship.
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George Harris alias Lovedale, 1900.
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Robert Shaw, 1900.




CHAPTER THREE

———

INSPECTOR JAMES BREMNER


CENTENNIAL PARK, NEW SOUTH WALES, 1901


As Inspector Bremner made policing arrangements for the celebration of Australia’s nationhood, he mulled over his impending retirement. It has been said he was asked to remain on duty to oversee the policing requirements, but this was unlikely to have been the case. The reality lay in the insolvency of the Police Superannuation Fund, which had been established in 1850 by an Act of Parliament. The original act required police to pay 2 per cent of their income into the fund and made provision for the government to support it if the need arose. A later enactment failed to make this provision and unlike the fund that provided government input for public servants, no contribution to the police fund was required from the government. The police voted to contribute a further 1 per cent to try to keep the scheme afloat, but calls on it exceeded the funds available. This had the effect of stalling retirements as older men were kept on, sometimes on extended leave as there was no financial support available should they leave.


The government procrastinated over the issue for years as the backlog of over-age men built up, stopping promotion of younger men. The police indicated a willingness to add to the contributions by up to 5 per cent, but this only delayed the inevitable. The government kicked the can with a stop gap £10,000, which, while alleviating the problem in the short term, did not solve it. It would not be fully addressed for another two years.


Any prospect James Bremner had of retiring had been thwarted along with those of a similar age. He didn’t enter leave but laboured on. In charge of a squad of 200 police, he went to Centennial Park on the morning of 1 January 1901, where the crowd was massing. A domed rotunda, not meant to last, had been built from plaster of Paris – a handsome structure which would be used for the formalities to come. An enclosure and seating had been built for guests, and stands constructed from which others could view the proceedings. A crowd of 60,000 other spectators was gathering. One thousand Imperial troops sent from England and her colonies gathered with local regiments and bands. State governors were required to remain in their domains to head local celebrations. Residents of Orange in central-western New South Wales remained on edge as their city was being considered as the nation’s new capital.


Just prior to the swearing-in ceremony, Inspector Bremner had directed his men to their positions and was standing in front of the crowd continuing his placements. A procession of various troops was approaching. Among them was Private George Maxted, a trooper recently returned from active service in South Africa as part of A Squadron of the New South Wales Mounted Rifles. He had been invalided to England in July 1900, and returned to Australia a short time later. Appointed orderly to the commandant of the invalid contingent, he had borrowed a grey horse that he believed to be quiet. As the procession advanced, the mount in front was touched by his horse. The leading horse lashed out and kicked – its hoof hitting Maxted’s right foot, knocking it from its stirrup and causing his spur to dig into the flank of his mount. The horse bolted before Maxted could get his foot back into place and he headed it towards a fence and away from the crowd. His helmet was dislodged and fell onto the animal’s hindquarters, stirring it to behave more wildly. He hung on and got the horse partly under control, but the crowd cheered his efforts, causing it to rear again and bolt in a different direction. Captain Richard Jenkins of the Royal Australian Artillery, who was riding the police horse that had lashed at Maxted’s mount, later claimed that both horses had earlier appeared quiet.


As the grey horse galloped towards the crowd at a great pace the rider was unable to stop him. There were warning calls from some, which were unheeded or unheard by others including Inspector Bremner, who was knocked to the ground as the horse glanced his shoulder. He was almost immediately attended by ambulance officers and taken from the scene directly to St Vincent’s Hospital. Tw o young people were injured, but not seriously. Maxted was thrown from his mount, which was gathered and brought back to him. He was uninjured.
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Inspector James Bremner from a sketch of his photographic portrait.


Inspector Bremner was conscious at the hospital and asked for his hands to be unclasped. His spine had been fractured and crushed and he had no feeling in his legs or arms. He recognised visitors, including his wife Elizabeth, but lapsed during the night and died at 2.30 the following morning. He was taken soon after by gun carriage and an escort a mile long to the Waverley Cemetery for burial.
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Funeral procession Oxford Street, Darlinghurst, taking the body of Inspector Bremner to Waverley Cemetery.
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The Federation celebration proceeded, most participants being unaware of the accident, and was considered a great success. The first ministry was sworn in and Edmund Barton became prime minister. Lord Hopetoun, the newly installed governor-general, sent his condolences to Inspector-General Fosbery after learning of the inspector’s death.


The Narandera Argus and Riverina Advertiser3 had earlier foreseen the path the new country would follow:


At the present juncture, the several provinces are trembling, so to speak, on the eve of the greatest change on which they have yet ventured. Federation brings with it the possibility of a broader national life, of the cultivation of an Australian as opposed to provisional sentiment. In due time it will also bring intercolonial Free Trade, which in itself will be an economic boon of inestimable value. Sincerely to be hoped it is, that the wisdom and patriotism of the people and their representatives may be so inspired and directed as to serve for the whole community the fullest enjoyment of the benefits thus placed within their reach. With loyal and cordial acceptance of the new order, and a determination to avoid carping at trifles there is reason to hope that this may be the case and that the coming century may usher in a period of unprecedented prosperity for United Australia.


The broader national life sought by the correspondent may have stemmed from a warm inner glow, though many were excluded. Adult women in all but two states, Western Australia and South Australia, were excluded. Others not fitting the racial template were also excluded. These included Indigenous males who could only vote in federal elections if they had already gained the vote in their respective states. This would not change until 1962. South Australia allowed Indigenous men the vote in 1856 and all adult citizens in 1895. It also allowed women to stand for election. Victoria allowed Indigenous men the vote in 1857; New South Wales, 1858; Tasmania, 1896; and Western Australia, 1899. Queensland’s Election Act of 1885 excluded Indigenous people from the vote. The restriction was removed in 1965, 64 years after Federation.


Women fared little better in the ‘broader national life’. Apart from the examples already cited, women in New South Wales were enfranchised in 1902; Tasmania, 1903; Queensland, 1905; and Victoria, 1908. So much for an Australian sentiment rather than a provincial one, and so too the new ‘representatives to be inspired to serve for the whole community the fullest enjoyment of the benefits thus placed within their reach’. Australia had yet a long way to go to achieve anywhere near an ideal as expressed by the few.


The Federation celebrations continued for a week and for niceties sake, for who would seek a pall over the proceedings, the executions of self-styled bushrangers Jimmy Governor and Jackey Underwood were postponed. Joe Governor was already dead and on his way to oblivion and as the new nation was born, the two remaining First Nations men from the trio of merciless killers they undoubtedly were, died. Jackey Underwood was hanged at Dubbo Gaol on the 14th day of the new nation. Jimmy Governor was hanged four days later at Darlinghurst Gaol, not far as the crow flies from Centennial Park.




CHAPTER FOUR

———

CONSTABLE 1ST CLASS DENIS GUILFOYLE AND PROBATIONARY CONSTABLE MICHAEL JOSEPH MAHER


DARLINGTON, NEW SOUTH WALES, 1902


Lord Hopetoun arrived in Sydney on 12 November 1900, aboard the Yarrawonga, in readiness for his appointment as Australia’s first governor-general. A hint of his grandiosity was evidenced by his bringing with him fifteen horses and two ponies, a head groom, a state coachman and eleven stablemen. He would later leave his position over a dispute surrounding his desire for extra allowances.


His arrival was exposed to Sydney by a procession from the specially prepared landing place at Farm Cove, along Macquarie Street to Government House. As the guns fired a salute from Dawes Point, two horses attached to a sulky in the Domain took fright and bolted towards Circular Quay. Constable Denis Guilfoyle made a dash at the pair but was knocked down and suffered injuries. Further along, the runaways knocked over another man and he and the constable were taken to Sydney Hospital for treatment. They were allowed to leave, but Constable Guilfoyle’s injuries became more apparent over time and he remained off duty for several months until he recovered. While it might appear that vice-regal processions attract such incidents, at a time before widespread automobile use, police and horse interactions of this type were all too common.


Less common was the bubonic plague that had broken out in Sydney in early 1900. Constable Guilfoyle assisted a sick man during the first outbreak and took him to Sydney Hospital, where the man was diagnosed with the plague. Constable Guilfoyle then found himself at the quarantine station for 14 days isolation. He was a big strong man, believed to be one of the strongest in the force and it seemed he needed to be. He was an Irishman, born in Scarrif, County Clare, who arrived in Sydney on the Aberdeen in April 1885 and joined the police force on 7 November of that year. He married Annie Rodgers in 1887 and the family lived in Redfern while he worked from the Redfern police station.


Shortly before 9 pm on Saturday 19 July 1902, Constable Guilfoyle was alerted by 13-year-old Frederick Gardner, who had left his parents’ shop at his mother’s request to follow a man who had just made a purchase with a counterfeit half-crown piece. She told Frederick to tell the man the coin was bad. As he left the shop he saw Constable Guilfoyle and told him what had happened. He walked with him in the direction the man had gone and met Probationary Constable Michael Maher, who was in plainclothes on his way to Redfern police station to start his shift at 10 pm. He was unarmed, as he would have donned his uniform at the station. The trio followed in the direction the man had gone and he was seen in the company of another man in Shepherd Street, Darlington. They approached the men and Guilfoyle told Maher to get one of them as he got the other. As they approached, one of the men pulled a revolver from his vest and fired two quick shots at Guilfoyle.


Guilfoyle fell and the man fired two more shots into his prone body, the last of which pierced his heart. The other man also produced a revolver and fired at Maher, striking him near the shoulder, shattering his right arm. He fell to the ground, then rose to his hands and knees. The man fired again and the shot entered his back at the shoulder blade and travelled through to his jaw. He fired again but the third shot missed. Young Frederick Gardner was well out of his depth and ran for his life. Both killers scuttled off, as cowards do, and neighbours came to the assistance of the officers.
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Scene of shooting.


Denis Guilfoyle had been working at Redfern for many years and was very popular. When assistance arrived he was already dead, and as word spread a pall came over the suburb. He was 43 years old and he and his frail wife had earlier that year buried their 10-year-old daughter Anne. Their infant daughter Mary had died in 1889 and their twins, Denis and Michael, in 1901. Three children survived him.


Constable Maher was rushed to Prince Alfred Hospital where he was treated for his wounds. He was 24 years of age and a native of nearby Annandale. Interviewed days later he said:


I heard Guilfoyle ask the man his name, and heard him reply, ‘Wilson.’ I also noticed him suddenly draw something from his right hand overcoat pocket and a moment later heard two reports in quick succession, and I saw Guilfoyle fall on his back on the footpath alongside the fence. Almost simultaneously with the shots the man whom I was approaching also drew a revolver and fired at me before I could close with him. The bullet struck me in the right arm near the shoulder. I was standing near the kerbstone at the moment and the shock caused me to step quickly from the kerbstone and fall on my face in the street.
I attempted to get up, but had only succeeded in getting on my hands and knees when he fired again. This time the bullet took effect near the shoulder blade, and coming through struck me on the chin. I fell again on my face, and he fired once more, but fortunately missed me. Half-stunned from the shock and weakness from the loss of blood, I struggled across the street to a house opposite, and asked someone to go to the police station and report the matter. I then went back to where poor Guilfoyle lay, but I could do very little for him, as I was in such a bad condition myself. The people who had been attracted to the spot, however, were supporting his head, and had placed a mattress under him, but I think that even at the time he was dead.


As Constable Guilfoyle lay on the ground, one of his colleagues removed his belt and recovered his fallen hat. On his belt was his service pistol, secured in its holster with a flap which was closed with a button. It was regulation issue and Guilfoyle would not have considered drawing it in the circumstances he was facing. The situation changed when he and Maher, who was unarmed, were met with bitter hatred.
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Constable 1st Class Denis Guilfoyle.
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Probationary Constable Michael Joseph Maher.


By 23 July 1902, the two assailants had been identified. George Shaw, a native of England who claimed variously that he was born in 1847 and 1849, was a career criminal who first came to notice in New South Wales in 1886 for stealing. He received a sentence of three years hard labour. His diversifying into counterfeiting saw further sentences that gradually increased with each appearance until he was sent away for seven years. The sentence included three months for attempting suicide in the Redfern police cells after he broke some metal from a bucket and cut his throat.


Shaw was said to have arrived in Tasmania in 1878 from where he had written to his sister. Soon after he wrote again from Brisbane, but in the ensuing 20 or so years his family had not heard from him.


The other was George Skidmore, a native of Bathurst who was born in 1867. He was an ‘ex-Vernon’ boy, which meant his early life had been one of detention for being neglected, a truant or homeless. His father, Joseph, had been prosecuted at Goulburn for failing to ensure his other children’s attendance at school. Neglect was the likely reason for his detention on the Vernon, a training ship moored adjacent to Cockatoo Island on Sydney Harbour.


Skidmore was his mother’s maiden name and he used other names, including his own, George Thomas Joseph Erby. He came to notice as an adult in New South Wales in 1890 when he was about 23 and charged with stealing, for which he was sentenced to 6 months. Minor offences followed that also attracted sentences, until 1893, when he earned three years for stealing in a dwelling house. In February 1896, he was sentenced with two co-accused to a further seven years imprisonment for burglary and was not released until September 1901. Shortly after, he was wanted for the murder of Guilfoyle.


As is often the case, the suspects were reported being seen by many people in many locations; none of them proving fruitful. A report that two men similar in description to Shaw and Skidmore were camping in the bush at Ginninderra, 16 miles from Queanbeyan, caused a flurry. Mr Ruwald, postmaster at Ginninderra, asked blacksmith’s apprentice Joseph Boulton to go to the nearby town of Hall and tell Constable Madden of two suspicious men camped opposite the post office, one of whom looked like the suspect in the newspaper. Constable Madden, Boulton and two others came to Ginninderra, but the suspects had left. They were later discovered camping in a paddock at Gungahleen homestead, so more men were drafted to assist. Mr Grace, owner of the homestead, attended with Boulton, Pooley, Reardon and John Edward Hollingsworth. They tied their horses to a fence and went towards the sleeping men. Constable Madden told the men to keep their guns trained on the men, but not to fire until he gave the word, or if the men fired first.


As they approached, Madden called on the men to surrender and one of them, Joseph Heaps, jumped up and appeared to reach for a gun leaning on a stump. Madden faltered and his pistol accidentally discharged. He ran to Heaps and another shot was fired just before reaching him. He supported him as he slumped to fall. Heaps began to bleed from the mouth and Madden asked who had fired the second shot. No-one answered and Heaps died in the constable’s arms. Madden was distraught as he thought he had shot Heaps. Others thought he had been shot in the mouth. Madden said, ‘I fired, but you all saw it was an accident.’ He asked who else had fired but no-one answered. Pooley showed his shotgun to prove it had not been fired. Hollingsworth went through the motions but those present thought he had fired.


Sergeant John Willis of Queanbeyan went out to bring Heaps’ body in and on examining it found that he had been shot in the left breast by pellets from a shotgun. Madden’s misfire had not hit Heaps. At Ginninderra police station, he saw Constable Madden, who was in what he called a terrible state of excitement, and asked him how the shooting had happened. Madden said, ‘It was purely accidental on my part. I had no intention of firing. My revolver went off.’ Willis told him that Heaps had been killed by shot and not a bullet.


At an inquest, held days later, the circumstances of the death were closely examined. By the time Hollingsworth appeared to give evidence he admitted that he had fired the fatal shot, although he claimed when he heard Madden’s shot he got a start and his gun went off accidentally. He was about 40 yards from Heaps and was known to be a good shot – and he had lied. The jury were unable to determine if the shot he fired was accidental or intentional, meaning they did not accept that it was accidental. Constable Madden was removed from any suspicion of responsibility for the death of Heaps.


The tragic circumstances of this man’s death, a travelling furniture repairer from Newtown, who toured country areas for work with his associate, were terrible, causing the Premier to announce that the deceased’s stepmother would be provided the means for a proper funeral.
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John Nicolls. Senior Constable Joseph Madden. Joseph Heaps’ wounded body.


Heaps’ sister told of her belief that her brother, who had been a gunner in the Royal Navy and who had deserted, may have thought the men calling on him to surrender were from the military. Even so, it remained a tragic error.
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The suspects had gone ‘into smoke’. Shaw travelled to Victoria, but Skidmore disappeared totally, his identification hampered by fingerprinting not having yet been widely adopted in Australia. The process was embraced at Darlinghurst Gaol in 1902 and the fingerprint bureau of the New South Wales Police began the following year. Victoria, too, adopted the technique in 1903, and this is to where Shaw resorted. The infancy of fingerprint identification in Australia would not allow for a positive identification of either Shaw or Skidmore.
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George Shaw.


[image: image]


George Skidmore.


Leads were followed and property searches made with the usual information given to the press in an effort to show progress, and perhaps infallibility. One search revealed equipment used to forge shan coins in a dwelling occupied by Shaw.


Skidmore was never located, leading to speculation that he had been murdered by Shaw, or had put distance between himself and Shaw on learning that he had become a Crown witness against his co-accused in a large robbery of the National Bank in 1885 that would become widely known as the Simpson’s Road Bank Robbery. Shaw, using the aliases Alfred Raingill or Joseph Yates, had been arrested with Henry Isaacs, alias Edward Caney or Alcock, George Fortune and Thomas Millidge and charged with robbery under arms. An accomplice, Thomas McMahon was charged as an accessory who provided the getaway cart.


Shaw was quick to seize the opportunity to avoid a lengthy prison sentence and turned Queen’s evidence, giving detailed accounts of the roles he and each of the others had played in the robbery. Armed with revolvers, they had climbed through an upstairs window of the vacant bank premises at 4 am and waited for the manager and accountant to arrive with the cash they knew would be brought by them for the day’s trading. They knew also, through days of observation, the manager would be armed. At their arrival, the manager and accountant were bound and gagged and the villains stole three large canvas bags of notes, gold and silver. The cart had been well considered, so heavy was their booty.


Evidence was found indicating the men had not left the city and a search revealed Shaw in a house of ill repute with some young women. He and the women were arrested and money and legitimate coins, both gold and silver, were recovered. The others were arrested over ensuing days and more of the money was recovered. At their trial the jury took just 20 minutes to convict them. Shaw was taken from the court and Isaacs, Fortune and Millidge were each sentenced to six years hard labour and they rejoiced, believing they would be dealt with more severely. McMahon was sentenced to 12 months hard labour and suffered the loss of his cart – not by court order but by it being overturned and smashed when driven by police to the lock-up.


Shaw was taken to the docks and seen off by Detective Sergeant O’Donnell. He was returning to Tasmania and out of harm’s way. He had automatically become a pariah.


Millidge, after his release, travelled to New South Wales in 1894 as Charles Montgomery. With Thomas Williams and an unknown associate, they attempted to rob the offices of the Union Steamship Company in Sydney, but were detected in the building and ran off pursued by an ever-increasing posse of constables. Montgomery aimed a revolver at one of the constables and threatened to shoot him. Others were clubbed with iron bars by the men, causing them serious injuries. It became known as the Bridge Street Affray and Montgomery (Millidge) and Williams were convicted of wounding with attempt to murder constables Alford and McCourt. They were hanged at Darlinghurst Gaol on 31 May 1894. The affray was the major driver that led to the arming of police in New South Wales.4


George Shaw’s criminal exploits began in Victoria in 1879, not long after his arrival from England via Tasmania and before he lived in New South Wales. He was charged with stealing and received a sentence of 12 months hard labour. In 1881, he was convicted of housebreaking, which earned him another five years. After these losing bouts, he travelled to New South Wales and immediately came to grief, racking up the first of his many gaol terms there.
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Thomas McMahon, who was sentenced for robbery under arms. He had served ten years, the first three of which were in irons for the criminal assault of a nine-year-old girl, his death sentence having been commuted.
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George Fortune, sentenced to six years for robbery under arms.
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Henry Isaacs alias Edward Caney alias Alcock.
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Thomas Millidge alias Charles Montgomery, sentenced to six years for robbery under arms and later hanged in Sydney.




CHAPTER FIVE

———

CONSTABLE RICHARD JOHNSTON


ELWOOD, VICTORIA, 1902


After the murder of Constable Guilfoyle, Shaw was back in Melbourne and up to no good. Sleeping rough and looking for any opportunity to sustain himself, he was seen about St Kilda from early August doing odds jobs and begging meals. Still, his low intentions were apparent, though at variance with his usual modus operandi. Shortly before noon on Monday 12 October, eight-year-old Caroline Allen was told by her mother to take her four-year-old sister and their baby sibling for a walk. Caroline pushed the pram and held her sister by the hand as they walked along Brighton Road towards the tram terminus.


They were approached by Shaw who said, ‘Hello. Do you know where there is a lolly shop?’ The older girl replied that she did not and Shaw took her by the hand and walked the children back towards a swamp while wheeling the pram. “Don’t be frightened, just come along with me,’ he reassured them as the children showed alarm. He took them to a lane at the back of a row of houses and began to ‘interfere’ with the older child. Her young sister ran to get her mother. Mrs Allen ran to the street and confronted Shaw. She berated him and asked him what he was doing with her children. He replied, ‘Oh, nothing.’ Mrs Allen said, ‘I’ll see into this and find out if there was nothing or not.’ She took the pram from him and went home with her children. Shaw moved off hurriedly.


Mrs Allen related the story to Constable Richard Johnston, who had not long returned to his home near to the Allens. He had been to buy a wreath for a colleague’s grave and was bathing his baby son. Without replying to Mrs Allen, he hurriedly rode off on his bicycle in the direction of where Shaw was last seen. As he rode, 15-year-old Henry Elliott, who did not know Johnston, fell in with him as they moved towards Brighton Road. They saw Shaw and continued into Milton Street.
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Constable Richard Johnston.


Shaw, who had been waiting for him in a gateway, stepped forward and fired a shot into Constable Johnston’s chest. He jumped from his bicycle but remounted and rode off, increasing speed as he went. Johnston called out several times in pain, ‘Oh. Oh, I’m shot.’ He rode about 200 yards towards Brighton Road and began to wobble and fell off the bicycle face down on the road. He attempted to rise but fell back. Henry Elliott rode for assistance and Johnston was moved by men who had come to him and placed him in the shade, and then to a nearby shop. He was pronounced dead soon after by Dr McAdam, who had happened by.


Shaw ambled casually from the scene towards where Johnston had fallen. He was heard to mutter the words, ‘Take that, then,’ before walking into a lane at the rear of shops in Brighton Road, where newsagent Alexander Cameron, opening his back gate, espied him. Shaw turned and walked away, passing the men who milled around the stricken constable. As he continued into Chapel Street he was followed by Cameron, who approached him. Shaw, who had apparently not seen him, turned and said, ‘You follow me at your peril; you understand that?’ Cameron fell back and followed from the other side of the street. He saw Shaw take a revolver from his pocket and appear to reload it as he walked along. Entering a street which had no exit, he returned to the corner and looked about calmly as a crowd began to gather. Suddenly, a buggy appeared about 100 yards off, driven by its owner after being commandeered by uniformed Constable William Youdan.


Two other constables approached from the opposite direction. Shaw took a penknife from his pocket and began to hone it on the sole of his boot. Though unarmed, Youdan reached a position about 20 yards (about 18 metres) from Shaw, who looked in his direction. Shaw stood for a moment, raised his arm and plunged the blade of the penknife deep into his neck, withdrew it, and threw it to the ground. He drew his revolver as Youdan ran towards him, placing his life at risk in an attempt to restrain Shaw; he was just yards away when Shaw raised the gun and instead of firing on the constable, turned it on himself and discharged a shot into his temple. As Youdan reached him, Shaw doubled up, half turned, his face contorted into a pained rictus, and fell to the ground, dead. As he fell, an iron jemmy dropped from his pocket – a tool of his trade that rang a discordant death knell to mark the demise of a wastrel. Seeing his options quickly diminish he had chosen to beat the hangman.


Just then an undertaker’s van drove past and Constable Youdan hailed it. Shaw’s body was placed in it and it was driven over to the shop where Constable Johnston lay and his body, too, was placed in the van. Expedience overrode any sense of decorum that might have been considered and both deceased men were taken to the city morgue.
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